Chapter 2 REALITY AND THE
POLICY PROCESS:
~memmm——— NINE STORIES

)
r U

Many failures combined to produce the Bay of Pigs failure. This chapter re-
views how, at nine points, crroncous beliefs substituted for a clear grasp of
what, in retrospect, was reality. These belicfs were: (1) Kennedv held a wish-
ful image of the Cubans. He considered them volunteer patriots motivated
to attempt, on their own, to liberate their homeland.

About what would follow after the men hit the beaches, Kennedy was
wrong in five assessments: (2) He reduced and eliminated air strikes without
realizing these decisions meant military defeat; (3) he belieyed American in-
volvement would remain sccret; (4) he belicved Castro would lose his nerve;
(5) he belicved the Cuban people would rise up to support the “liberation”
of their homcland; (6) he belicved he (and the men) had a costless guerrilla
escape option.'

Others thought they grasped reality, but cvents proved they did not, on two
additional issucs: (7) Adlai Stevenson belicved the CIA cover story for the
defector pilot was truc. And (8) almost all (and perhaps all) Kennedy’s ad-
visers, and the Cubans themselves, believed he would commit American mili-
tary forces rather than allow an invasion to fail.

Finally, (9) there was a serious failure the invasion collapse obscured. Ken-
nedy and his advisers did not consider the implications of a prolonged strug-
gle that might have cmbroiled the United States had Kennedy not inadvert-
ently scuttled his own operation at the beachhead.

|. Kennedy imagined the Cubans to be volunteer patriots eager to liberate
their homeland, on their own, to advance a “New Frontier” political agenda.

Kennedy's problem — of both sclf-image and political symbolism — was how
to commit an aggressive act without thinking of it as aggression, or how the
United States could intervenc in Cuba without violating the principle of non-
intervention. He tried to find a way to reshape the CIA’s original plan, and
think about the opcration, to achieve this objective.? His solution was to
conceive this operation as American support of C uban liberators. They were
to be led by a liberation government whose “New Frontier™ political program
of liberal reform mirrored Kennedy's own progressive ideals.

Reality remained otherwise: the operation, from top to bottom, beginning
to end, was American — American-conceived, American-inspired, American-
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financed, American-managed. The Cubans were stage props; the forced po-

litical coalition had no united program.

Lest the situation be misunderstood, it should be made clear that none of
the soldiers were mercenaries. They were paid only a subsistence amount.
They were, for the most part, younger, idealistic, passionate patriots who be-
lieved their ideals — and their country — were now betrayed by Castro. But the
absolutely necessary ingredient in their participation was faith that the United
States was behind them and would not let them fail. Castro had 250,000 regu-
lar troops and militia. You would have been crazy to join a band of 1,400
and invade Cuba on your own.

In March 1960 the CIA undcertook to form a liberation government. They
had difficulty doing so. There were over 100,000 Cuban expatriates and 600
different political groups in the Miami arca. The first wave of expatriates came
with the fall of Batista: They had strong incentives to return to former posi-
tions of power and wealth. They were also unacceptable: Having been liber-
ated, the Cuban people would scarcely support the reinstatement of right-
wing Batistianos. Only as Castro moved more explicitly in a Marxist direction,
and began to purge the army and his governing coalition of his carly leftist,
but non-Communist, supporters and they began to arrive in Miami, could
the CIA work seriously to form a credible “liberation” government. But to

do so, they now had to deal with groups spanning most of the political spec-
trum, some of whom were anathema to others.*

To form a political coalition required consummate skill {especially in deal-
ing with Cuban politicians whom cven their supporters often considered prick-
ly prima donnas). Bissell's ad hoc operation was forced to use some CIA
agents who were not considered first-rate. In the Guatemala scenario the “lib-
erators” were stage props, a low priority, so Bisscll used his weakest people
to handle that job. Gerry Droller, the Washington head of exile political con-
tacts, spoke no Spanish and was openly condescending to Cubans. E. Howard
Huat was widely regarded in the agency as a charming man who seldom got
anything done: He was designated 1o be head of political action, working in
Miami and in touch with the politicians daily.?

Hunt was authorized 1o take off the kid gloves: “knock their heads together,
Kick them in the ass, anything at all.”* But he could not produce a govern-
ment. Finally, in mid-March 1961, with the invasion now tentatively approved,
a D-Day in three to four weeks, and no liberation government formed, Bissell
acted to get one. He fired Hunt and assigned a new man, “Jim Noble,” former
CIA station chicf in Havana.* Noble's order was to produce the coalition

government in a week. He assembled the expatriate leaders on March 18 at
the Skyways Motel in Miami, and he issued an ultimatum cleared with Wash-
ington. He excoriated the Cuban politicians for pursuing “selfish little aims
and petty differences. . . . If you don't come out of this meeting with a com-
mittee, you just forget the whole fuckin’ business, because we're through!™
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were kidnapped. taken by seaplane and canoe to an almost inaccessible loca-
tion in the northern mountain jungle of Guatemala, and held incommunicado
by armed guards for threc and a half months until the invasion attempt was
completed.

Nor did senior officials at the White House, under pressure to mount an
invasion, have time to be well informed about everyone the United States was
sponsoring as a “liberator.” Jim Noble, recruited in March, bricefed Bissell,
A. A Berle (an old-time New Dealer who was a Latin American specialist
at the State Department), William Bundy from the Defense Department, and
Richard Goodwin from the White House. Noble was shocked by the igno-
rance: “If I'd just thrown in Joe Blow’s name and made up a fictitious back-
ground for him, he could have been named to the government, too.”™ His
suggestion for a genuine political convention among Cubans in Miami was
rejected because of a lack of time. No one had been concerned with it carlicr.

It would seem reasonable, in retrospect, to doubt that Kennedy cver real-

ly believed the propaganda. But the evidence is that he cared about the reali-
ty and wanted it to be true. He developed a bottom-line test to assure himself
that these Cubans genuinely wanted to go to the beaches for their own mo-
tives; he formally demanded the Cuban leaders accept the fact that there
would be no American military involvement. (I will return to this episode,
and why the message Kennedy received satisfied him —crroncously.) Kennedy
used Arthur Schlesinger, Jr., in the White House, to develop an enraptured
White Paper (“The Cuban people remain our brothers . . . ") 10 assure the
world that the spirit of the “New Frontier” motivated the operation, that it
would continue Castro's carlier programs: Fidelismo sin Fidel." Kennedy or-
dered a leftist politician, Manuel Ray, included in the liberation govermment
in order to shape its policies and (with his allegedly large underground net-
work) increase the likelihood of a mass uprising. America would be Cuba’s
benetactor, not an “aggressor.™'*

Having tried to create a viable viewpoint from which to approve the plan,
Kennedy apparently ended up beliey ing it halfway, and probably more than
haltway. About the realities and the gorier details of what they were doing,
the CIA told him no lies, but they also told him few details. Nor did he ask.

So the CIA went ahead and substantially substituted image for reality. Its
officials might have preferred the image to be the same as reality, but they
had no time.

2. Kennedy cut back and eliminated air strikes without realizing the disus-

trous consequences.

{T)here is unanimous agreement that at some stuge the Custro Air Force
must be removed. . .. [Tlhe revised lunding plan depends strongly upon
prompt action against Castro’s air.
—McGeorge Bundy,
Memorandum for the President,
March 15, 1961
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were “personal conflict” learners. Kennedy was accustomed to the frank, even
blunt, dealing of an inner circle of staff and family accorded the right of
frankness in return for absolute personal loyalty. Earlier, when he was in the
Senate, it had not been an awesome breach of protocol for staff to tell him
he was wrong, or to argue with him. And if a staff member did not see eye
to eye with him, or displeascd him, he could always find another job with
another senator.

But to a president, advisers became deferential. There was the aura of the
office. His pleasure and displcasure now affected whether men, drawn to
Washington to make an impact on history, could realize this central quest
in their lives. Association with power in the White House was a “mountain
top experience,” onc aide later put it.

When Kennedy gave a blunt order, “I want it minimal,” his past style in-
dicated he was not giving an absolute order, he was only saying what he
wanted. He expected people to come back at him if it shouldn't be what he
wanted. But since Kennedy’s assessment was affected by the emotional in-
tensity with which the argument was made, Bissell’s quick deference con-
firmed, implicitly, that all the air strikes were not necessary.™

Bissell accepted because he had padded to give the plan a substantial safe-
ty margin. And he decreased the sorties, 100, because he did not want to jeop-
ardize a mission (with a final “go” signal nceded from the president on Sun-
day) by unnecessary confrontation. A quick assent still left the D-Day strikes
to finish the job.

U-2 photographic overflights of Cuba did not yield a certain count of how
many planes were destroyed on D-2, but several planes clearly remained oper-
ational.*' The D-Day strike was now considered crucial, and at tull force:
the men were unprepared for a contested landing, their boats were loaded
with highly explosive fuel and ammunition, and they lacked antiaircraft weap-
ons 1o defend themselves.

But throughout Sunday, Kennedy's doubts continued. He arranged to go
to an estate in Virginia and to a racetrack, hit golf balls in a pasture, and ap-
pear to be on vacation (a cover story). But all who saw him that day said he
looked gloomy, pressured, distracted. He had agreed to decide by noon. He
did not call Bissell until 1:45 p.M. to say “go ahcad.™? (Bisscll, again, had
padded: the true “final” hour to abort the ship rendezvous was 4:00 — and the
men would not, in fact, begin to hit the beaches until about midnight, so he
actually had even longer.)

But after his approval, doubts continued to work on the president. He re-
ceived no new factual information. But that morning the major newspapers
had left the defector’s cover story in shreds. Then, Stevenson learned he had
been set up and his angry “Eyes Only” cable to Rusk arrived at the State De-
partment.”* Concern that the operation was becoming loud and public, and
reaction to the “international noise level” in New York, prompted telephone
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conversations among Rusk, Bundy, and the president. Ru.?l\ inm‘aw;il th;cdc:III.s;:
and Kennedy cancelled the D-Day air strike at the same time 'hg.o(rl crgl ‘vc;-
George Bundy to New York City, “t.o ho!d the hands of Am‘b:ma :’)err b:cak-
son” (as Bundy expressed it) and give him an accurate briefing o

4 morning.** o |
fds\tvlt:;l;{c:;k spoke \li/ilh the president, he urged t.hc adv'ls_abnhlz fof pmo:::(')‘?"
ing any further air strikes until these cogld “plausubly o_rfgln(:iuch ;?d itk
Cuba itself. To Rusk, this meant l_hc air strip on the lsil‘an sho st b
secured — which meant no dawn strikes. He found, ‘f’ ‘hls su_rprlser;" Z o
dent did not remember any D-Day strikes were to ergnnate lro:ln ncz:r %\ di:
“I'm not signed on to this,” the president §a|<'l. using navy parlance to 1
cate that he did not remember these details. ™ N i eamne

On Sunday evening, General Cabell stopped by the CIA ‘n‘lcr ago 'tcd ¢

1o check on developments. 1t was there, about 9:30 P.M., th..u t‘\c‘re‘ccl ol
call from Bundy; at the president’s order .thc l?'-Qay strik L‘o v;/'u'o. «.ar‘lc‘ual:d
unless there were “over-riding considerations.™ If the m“w.' tmonr m.Ncw
problems for Cabell, he should call Rusk; Bundy was leaving for

26
Y()Crl;i)ell phoned Bissell and they went immediately to sce Iiulsk attth::c(S‘l:nt::‘
Department, arriving just after 10:15 p.M. Cabcl! and BIS?LI. x:rlo es ed th
cancellation very strongly to Rusk; Bisscll, cspccnally, was h;‘g ll y ;:‘g:] : “.a;
They told Rusk that if the president did. not reverse himsclf ) t dc :m‘kl‘dgami_
seriously endangered: Castro had operational mrcral‘t, the Btlgadc‘ ac rca L
aircraft capability; and men on the beaches would likely dic undc‘:l ai : wi[h:
Rusk maintained that as the boats were c‘x;‘)cc‘(cd to be unloaded an
wn by dawn, a delay would not be critical. ' o
d’;urs‘k cyalled Kennedy, reported to him that Qabcl!'and Bls'seflldwe‘:e u:el;lis:
office, felt the cancellation would be “very serious, apd brie edt elp e
dent on their arguments. He concluded by restating his ow‘n origina Sl.he
tion, that in view of the problems in New York the cancclla}non stafy an ;
CIA be allowed no further forcign-based air assaults..'Hc IISICI'IC(f or : mo
ment, then turned to Cabell and said, “Well, the Presndcr.\‘l a‘gri:suwu me,
but would you, General Cabell, like to speak to the PrC.sld".l.\(. icer
Cabell demurred. He had nothing to add and, as a good n'lflnary o' ‘u‘c -
with his arguments heard and the case now qvcrrulcd, twice, byﬂ t 1; ‘g.(?‘"
mander-in-chiel —he decided there was no po.ml to further proust’.. mgl(i
too, judged Rusk had summarized the case fm”r‘!‘y and f u.nhcr p‘r]cilz‘sl( A:vol;s-
be “hopeless” or its chance at best “negligible.™ Rc(ummgrf(‘) I' ¢ IO.CIA
sell, acting on his own authority, cancelled planngd noti lc-aflut)‘ns. ° CIA
agents within Cuba. He did not w:n: lohcc‘)q:pr(:l!lllljcwlhcm if the inva
il; i w secmed more likely that it w 2 . '
Sh(l)\‘:lg Iar:: ’ gel:;ral Cabuell, still concerned abqut the error of the p;‘esngel::\l )s
decision (and feeling intense pressure from his subordinates at the .
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visited Dcan Rusk at his apartment in the Sheraton-Park Hotel and awakened
him to request American jet cover during unloading and withdrawal. Rusk
called the president and put General Cabell on the line directly. At 4 a.m.,
it was too late for the sfow Brigade B-26s to arrive from Nicaragua by dawn.
The gencral’s options used American planes and American pilots. The presi-

" dent did not comment, asked to talk to Rusk, and their conversation was very
bricf. Rusk hung up the phone, turned to Cabell, and told him all requests
were disapproved.* Moreover, the president had ordered the carrier moved
further out to sea and kept at least thirty miles away."

Why did Kennedy cancel? The “international noisc level” was the sort of
political risk he had feared, and which he had whittled down the operation
to prevent. The ClA-designed cover story for their defector was exposed.
Stevenson was furious, and he could lead opposition from within the Demo-
cratic Party. Rusk also advised cancellation and, in his quict professional way,
spoke with the authority of the New York foreign policy establishment, Ken-
nedy was upset and determined, whatever clse, that his (America's) deniabil-
ity would stay and he would not further risk a Soviet move against Berlin or
elsewhere in the world.

But a cancellation was now irrational. It was too late. The only consequence
was to affect the symbolic gesture (in an isolated arca) that the sixtcen planes
first land at the secured beachhead strip before they could again take off and
begin to bomb. One still nceded to explain where they originated. It was now
implausible they all could be portrayed as indigenous Cuban defectors, but
the casc was equally fanciful whether they arrived at dawn —to help sccure
the beachhead by eliminating Castro’s air power —or in the afternoon. More-
over (it is unlikely Kennedy was attentive to this detail), the CIA’s nose cone
error was public: there was no credible way to convince reporters these Brigade
B-26s belonged to Castro. Foreign correspondents in Havana would obscrve
and report this; to expose the American government's lics had become the
lcad story in a competitive business.

Later Kennedy told his aide Ted Sorenson that he had not appreciated the
conscquences of his canceliation. Yet if he failed to understand the conse-
quences, it was because he arranged it that way.

DeRivera, a psychologist, has written a shrewd discussion of decision mak-
ing, commenting on how often we ask for advice from those we know will
say what we want to hear.* Kennedy did this, too. Oddly, for a man who
had followed such formal procedures until now, he spoke only with Rusk and
Bundy before making the decision. Had he truly wanted informed military
advice, he would have called Lemnitzer, Burke, Cabell, Hawkins, Bisscll,
Shoup (commandant of the Marine Corps) or many others who knew the mil-
itary details. He spoke only with the two men who would agree that “inter-
national noisc level” was the criterion he should use.

His D-Day cancellation itself, as we have seen, made no logical sense. Given
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Kennedy’s carlier moodiness, his dis%racted appearancc, his dela).' in giving
the “go” order, his last minute decision (agau.\‘wnhou't cgnsultanon‘)‘tobrs-
duce the D-2 strike, his failure to rcguest a m.thtary bricfing —and his (: vi-
ously poor memory of even those milnary details he ha‘d been told — }:'h-e |: aus
ible inference is that Kennedy was ambwalgnt. co:?f |fcth fxbout :j |s p an’.
Thus | think we have to conclude that “cu‘t]tmg out” his military advisers was
of what he did not want to hear. o
: S(t)ar'::l:l?(‘)tsurmiscs he was becoming very ang.ry. As a'n as‘lu(e polm'cu'm.‘hs
surely knew what military advisers would tell hlm Instinctively, he c::s:;lnuc:il
them to dramatize his message. He was unwilling to hearv from Cabe ulr} !
after the decision; to appeal, he forced Cabell to go to Rusk. Then, by nf ‘;n_
against Cabell a second time before Cabell was a_skcd whether he :/z:’n'lru [3
talk to him, he (surely, intentionally) put Cabellin a pressurcd and di l|<cu
situation. Kennedy leaned on the CIA har.d. to m:fk‘c it work the way ;‘:n
nedy wanted it, and within the badly fraying conditions of the secrecy ttezl
had promised. And, perhaps, Kennedy suspgc(cd that the CIA cxag'g:r;;‘ e
the need for D-Day strikes, and they really did not need them (thoug (tl ur'
loss could make the job more difficult). They had accepted c\{ery cu} !}? \ at;:(i
each of the earlicr parts of the plan had inc'l}lflcd safety margins which cou
i to accommodate political realitics. .
be\ilr:::an;(ecdnnedy to hear forccful objections, (hgse w?uld come from scnior
advisers with the burcaucratic standing to call him dlrccl!y. But thatl possl;
bility was now hostage to chance and circumstance. A direct appel: cou
have come fromn Allen Dulles or the secretary of d‘cfense. Robert Mc am;}'fi.
But to effect a cover story, Dulles (tradecraft, again) had gone to Puer;s I:O
to give a speech. (Tuss imaginatively charged he had gone to Pu'ert: ico th
direct the invasion from a secret base.)* McNamara ha.d rema}me :_)esnp"
eral to the earlicr discussions and no n‘;f:(tinber”of the Joint Chiefs of Staff,
i ave enlisted McNamara, did so.” ‘
Whl(t) i'::)gr:lb:bly true Kennedy would have rctaine'd the D-Day strikes haq h;
foreseen the immediate consequences. Under the cnrcumstances., thatlrequlre !
not only factual information but emotional force. Bu! professional ang;‘xflgc
and the deference of subordinates kept such emouqnal force from u;\.
The discussion with Rusk was professional, diplomauc, .Iownliey.:ljhc wor“:
used were “critical,” “overriding considerations,” “serious risk, f\oasehlev(czl.A
Only outside of the presidential presence were men blunt. Bac.:lx at tdcfaccd:
planners blasted Cabell without mercy. They were angry, shouting, re ’-w 'né
four-letter words filled the air, the pretense of rank and decc‘)‘run-l gone: ‘an" '
Colonel Hawkins shouted at Cabell, a four-staf general, “This is c.nml(r:la y
negligent!” and at midnight, chpcrate'apd sopblng,' he phon:d Marfm; ¢ :(;:r
mandant Shoup to tell him he was certain the invasion wogl now 'il der
dawn air attack. Shoup “damn near choked,” agrecc} with Hav:‘ 1:)15, u-
thought things had “gone too far” for him to help (nor did he have the bureau
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cratic standing to call the president).?” General Gray, the liaison officer be-
tween the Pentagon and the CIA, was called at the Pentagon by CIA plan-
ners seeking allies: Gray quickly called General Wheeler (air force chief of
statf) and together they made an emergency visit to awaken General Lem-
nitzer, chairman of the Joint Chief's (at about 2 a.M.). Lemnitzer’s reaction
was that the president’s decision was “absolutely reprehensible, almost crim-
inal” in “pulling the rug” from under the Cuban soldiers. Lemnitzer agreed

. to Wheeler’s and Gray's urging for immediate standby preparations for naval
air cover in the morning in the event Kennedy reconsidered his order. These
actions and contingency plans were the basis for General Cabell's visit to Sec-
retary Rusk at 4 a.m.™

No such strong emotion and blunt talk, at the time, reached the president.
Indced, any subordinate who called a president *criminally irresponsible” to
his face would surely have taken the step expecting to end his carcer. (And
he would likely be ineftective: his own behavior would become the issue.)
Presidents seldom hear messages with a strong emotional charge from sub-
ordinates, certainly not critical ones.

3. Kennedy believed the American role would remain secret.

To Kennedy, a secret or plausibly deniable American role was crucial. The
Soviet Union would not be challenged by a success (nor would he or the Unit-
ed States lose moral standing). Too, the expatriates likely stood a better
chance to spark a nationalist uprising if they publicly appeared to act on their
own motives rather than to be mercenaries or surrogates for a Yankee inva-
sion. ™ '

Kennedy and his advisers relied on past expericnces and faith in their own
credibility. The CIA operations of the 1930s had remained secret. The press
was part of the team. Never before had investigative journalists defected to
score points by vigorously secking and publishing information about covert
operations: undoubtedly the McCarthy period, and the carly cold war, had
produced inhibitions that flowed from an clite consensus so marked there was
no need to be overtly heavy-handed.

What changed? Soviet capture of a U-2 pilot in 1960, shot down during
a spy fNight over Russia, had trapped the Eisenhower administration into a
public lic, admitted by Eisenhower. This probably made later intelligence ex-
posds more acceptable (and newsmen and readers probably also fearned they
enjoyed such exposés). * Now, too, elite opinion was divided; many liberals
in Americasupported Castro's overthrow of Batista; they were not sure Amer-
ica should opposc him now, especially without hard evidence that he was a

Communist. Thus, this intervention was controversial, a story they would
want to hear. Quite possibly a liberal president helped to make this a story;
one could, in a sense, expose greater pretense. .

A list of news stories that did appear (and an even longer list of those re-
searched but withheld after White House pressure) prior to the invasion is
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a formidable indictment of Kennedy’s odd, continuing hope On October 39‘
1960 the Guatemalan newspaper La Hora published a su.)ry by a well-kn.o“' n
journalist disclosing construction of the CIA base. Am.cncan nc\vspupgr§ did
not monitor La Hora, but Professor Ronald Hilton, dnrcc;orh of lhe. lnsuu{lc
of Hispanic-American Studies at Stanford, learned the mior:nauon whnl;
visiting Guatemala, and was told it was “common knowledge.” He .rcp(.me.
it in the scholarly Hispanic American Review and pfoduccd an c?dllonal in
the Nation, on November 19, condemning thc'operauon ;nd seeking to alert
a larger national constituency. The editorial in the -Nalwn. called the plag-
ning “dangerous” and urged the reports be checked |mmcd|a.lely by all U.S.
news media with correspondents in Guatemala.*! The planning was sc_arce-
ly secret from the Soviet government: in November, Praw{a Fmd Iz}'estla l?e-
gan to run well-informed stories about the Guatemala training base and in-
ion preparations.
va'sllzc Il\)lal?on dispatched copies of its editorial, by courigr. to the New York
Times and other major news media, and followcd. up with (clcphoncgal}st
It produced no response, possibly because many editors were unsurc this was
a story they wanted the responsibility for pursuing. Bt}t a rFudcr of both the
Nation and the Times clipped the editorial and sent it, \mh'a letter to the
editor, 1o the Times, asking if such reports were true, and, if 59, why was
he not reading the truth in the Times? That secmed a good question, toq. 1o
the assistant managing cditor on whose desk the lct!cr tanded —and the Times
reporter in Mexico City was dispatched to investigate.*' '
His story ran, with a three-column headline, on the front pz}ge of the New
York Times on January 10, 1961: “U.S. Helps Train an Anti-Castro Force
at Secret Guatemalan Air-Ground Base.” The Times included a map of the
base. No onc reacted, probably because Washington was buw?en govern-
ments and there was no clear tie between the base and the new Kennedy ad-
inistration. .
" But as the invasion drew closer, it was common knowledge, and easily
learncd, in the Miami Cuban conununity.* The Cubans were voluble and
very enthusiastic, and Amcrican newsmen had easy access, at Iovg Fost. to
news sources in Miami. A U.S. News & World Re.porl newsman visited At-
thur Schiesinger at the White House with the draft of an extensive, a'nd ac-
curate, story. The New Republic sent over galleys of wh;?t Schlesinger Jgdgcd
to be a “carcful, accurate, and devastating” story. (Neither was published.
-ause of White House influence.)* . '
bc'tl"ah‘i‘smajor crosion of security began by chance: Tad Sz.ulc qt lhc Tm‘le.s
was on vacation from his assignment in Rio and stopped in Miami 1o visit
iends.
fn:EIz‘lrIy for a mecting, and waiting in a bar, hg spotted a man !'IC had once
met in Cuba. The man greeted him with enthusiasm, talked excitedly about
the wonderful invasion and overthrow of Castro that would soon occur and
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which he assumed Szulc had come to Miami to report firsthand . . . and with-

in a few days Szule had the entire story, including an introduction to the CIA's

chicl contact man, “Eduardo™ (E. Howard Hunt) at a party.*

Seulc opposed an invasion, and he thought the idea of a popular revolt sheer
fantasy. He thought, and believed others shared, an uncasy feeling the United
States was wrong 1o scek Castro’s overthrow. It was a story, his superiors at
the Times agreed, they had a duty to cover.

Szulc’s story was whittled down to accommodate White House pressure.
The editorial hicrarchy of the Times eliminated specific reference to the CIA,
to an invasion date, and toned down the headline when they ran it on Fri-
day, April 7.°" But the story did report an invasion “was near.” Kennedy,
livid, shouted at his aides, “I can’t believe what I'm rcading. . . . It’s all laid
out. ... "

Bisscll’s secrecy held so far as details were concerned. The date of D-Day,
and the landing site, were not known in advance. Nor did Castro learn of
the air strikes or the diversions in advance.

Why did Kennedy believe he would get away with it? The New York Times
officially defined reality. Kennedy knew that several newspapers and maga-

zines had the story. Those publications also knew, by implication, they might
be set up and their professional credibility exploited by CIA cover storics.
As a former journalist, Kennedy could have guessed (if he thought about it)
how journalists would react to being manipulated. In a competitive business,
who would parrot the official line when a competitor was likely to publish
the true and morce interesting story? Three factors probably led Kenncedy to
hope that sccrecy could be retained. First, the Times —and other papers —
had been willing, under White House pressure, to pull their punches: the CIA
was not mentioned by name. Sccond, the invasion itsclf was supposed to be
quict, uncontested, at night, and in a remote arca. By the time it hit the press
there would only be Cubans ashore. Third, when the need to assess the situ-
ation arosce, Richard Bisscll was a gifted phrasemaker. He told the president
the operation still had a “fig leaf.” An apt and vivid metaphor — who could
telb if it was right? —and it kept the policy on track.®

4. American planners severely underestimated Castro’s personal compe-
tence under fire.

The Key prediction of the Guatemala model was that Castro’s government
would disintegrate under pressure. In fairness to the CIA, we should recog-
niz¢ that Kennedy never gave psychological warfare its best chance. The day-
light Trinidad landing, planned to be a dramatic catalyst, was abandoned
when Kennedy wanted the introduction of troops via a quict, remote night
landing. Castro retained air power because Kennedy further changed the orig-
inal plan. Technological tricks were never engaged in because no B-26s flew
from the beaches to destroy microwave and telephone capabilities and leave
radio communications vulnerable.
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Still, Castro’s record should have counted against the belief he wou!d lose
his nerve. With a handful of men he had launched (and won‘) a rcv?lutfon‘all'y
challenge against Batista with an army of 4(?.0()(). On reflection, that s?:rcc‘y
looked to be a man who would collapse cas:l'y: MOI’C(.)VCI’. the Cuban ¢ larguj
1o the United Nations, and in the press, spccnhcall.y discussed Gu‘atema aan
it was doubtful psychological warfare would again be as effective against a

ip cadre prepared for it.™

lea:f::i?il:arc\ polici;mgkcrs underestimated Castro partly because Fhey s’a_w nf)
sane explanation for his increasingly pa_ssionatc. zfnd appa.remly scl:';du.s(:)mi:
tive, anti-Américan course. They gcnunpcly consnd?red hlm., mtf:n‘la fy un ad
anced. Schlesinger says people in Washington copgdcred his vivid f:ars anl
fiery oratory “hysterical.™ If so, it could be easier to prodgsc r)?rl\101:is Fo -
lapse than against Arbenz. Too, if Castro were n!adf and messumu’l y nvcr:
to spread revolution, there would be a clash of will .and faw power soone
or later; it was prudent to act now, while he was sul‘l weak: .

The CIA’s intelligence branch put their judgmcqt dircctly |plo’.psyghplog-
ical terms: Castro, they concluded, was “a psychotic pcrsonahly. This Jugzl;
ment, made formally by the Board of Nutionz:jl.[’.sll'matcs on Fcbruary 21,

ow declassified, is worth quoting dircctly. . .
lg%l’ei::;gc:smem addressed the question of why Cuba b%‘c?Imc allied with thc
USSR when Castro's 26th of July Movement was not oqgmally Communl::;-
inspired or dirccted. Deterioration of U.S.-Cuban rclanons,'the_ r?por} said,
was “not a function of US policy and action, but of Castro’s Psychouc per
sonality. It is cvident, on the testimony of his su.pportcrs at t.he time, that |Cd|;
tro arrived in Havana in a high state of elation amounting to mental ill-
ness. . . . He became convinced that the US WOl.lld never undcrs.l.andfand
accept his revolution, that he could expect only !mplacable hosllllty |“gm(;
Washington. This was the conclusion of his own'dlso'rdered n_nm.i, 'u:lrc ate
to any fact of US policy or action.™ The report’s ultimate criteria: no.szl:(ne
man undertaking to govern and rcform Cuba would ha?'c chosen to pic - a
fight with the US." After all, signing an arms pact with thg C?om‘:nums;
bloc? Ninety miles from Florida? And given the Monroe Doctrine? That was
an: ts:: zquzzé Castro might appear psychotic: delusions of persecution ('hc
thought capitalists, and especially the United Stagcs, were out {0 dcstrc:l).: h|m
and his revolution), megalomania (being a rcvolunonfny at aII., the gran logty
to claim oneself as the vanguard and savior of Lfltlfl ATncnca. challcr.lgmg
the United States), aggressiveness (expelling or ehmmat.mg' all com;.)c‘:mors.
having former Batistianos and alleged spics.. shot, cstabllshmg.a polu.c-s;'at;
dictatorship, “picking a fight” with the United States). Certainly there :1,
to be a strong, personal explanation. Betancourt of Venezucla‘, for examp Lt
was a liberal reformer whosc contrasting style shgwed Cas}ro s conduct was
not culturally determined and who signed on to join the Alliance for Progress
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team. The apparently obvious diagnosis was that Castro was making up the
whole world in which, in his “disordered mind,” he was living.*

Unfortunately, the CIA's Board of National Estimates, which reflected and
reinforced “informed” opinion, was independent of the “plans” division head-
ed by Bissell. For security, these intelligence estimators were kept in the
dark.** Castro better knew the reality of what others in the building were do-
ing than they did. He knew there were plots to overthrow him or assassinate
him and that the Guatemala base was a reality. Nor did he — with a network
of active agents in Miami as well as Guatemala — hallucinate that the under-
ground opcrations and airdropped supplics to terrorists who set fire to sugar
cane fields and killed civilians with several bombs a week in 1960 were the
sole work of private groups the United Suates simply had difficulty control-
ling (as the Department of State, itself misled, protested).

There probably was an added motive for believing thai Castro was a mad,
paranoid fanatic. American leaders could simply look at themselves and see
decent, hard-working people trying to do good in the world. Many had lib-
eral sympathies. To maintain vociferously that Americans were evil, Castro
must have an overwrought and feverish imagination and be rather borderline
in his grasp of reality.

Castro may have been an ambitious, driven man. But the report, reaching
for sophistication, did not usc the basic facts needed for prediction. Castro
was a veteran guerrilla fighter who had fought against heavy odds before,
not a fair-weather soldier in Guatemala reluctant to get a uniform dirty. He
had courage and guts. And he knew the invasion was coming.

5. Kennedy and most White House advisers incorrectly believed the troop
landings would trigger widespread rebellion.

The CIA provided two sorts of intelligence estimates: There were the of -
ficial intelligence estimates, an example of which (from the Board of National
Estimates) we have just scen. Bissell’s group ran its own, independent intel-
ligence operation. The first group of estimators knew nothing about the plan,
and they made no uprising forecast. Bissell’s group, with the Guatemala
model, never expected a spontaneous uprising; at best, they expected it would
take a week or more to establish momentum. They provided weapons with
the invaders for 30,000 — but only for 30,000.%

Bissell’s group gave the president modest numbers about what to expect:
2,500 hard-core supporters; another 20,000 would join once a movement be-

gan to build momentum; the majority of the Cuban people, they told the pres-
ident, probably supported Castro; 25% of the population, they judged, would
be favorably disposed to Castro’s overthrow.'” Their oral briefings were
careful and professional: “Bissell said that you just couldn’t tell whether this
thing would ignite a real revolt. ‘We have reports it will,’ he said, ‘but how
can you possibly tell?” He was very cautious in his words. He promised
nothing.”*
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After the defeat, “we were promised a mass uprising and it did'IlO( oceur”
became a self-serving White House line, partly a cover sl()ry‘ to divert allcq-
tion from Kennedy's disastrous D-Day cancellation by arguing ¥hat. \.vcll. it
would never have worked anyway. And the CIA colluded: lhclr radlg net-
work infiltrators were still in Cuba. To surface the real scenario woula have

lives in jeopardy.® .
pu;till, it sc::mspcertain that the White House and Joint Chiefs of Stafl be-
lieved a mass uprising would be inspired to sweep the invaders to \’IC.IOI'_V.”"
The specific efforts (detailed carlicr) by Kennedy, Schlesinger, Qoodwm, and
others in the White House to create a political program to achne.ve mass sup-
port engaged mutual enthusiasm. In the end, they captured their own imag-
inations.® .

The CIA did provide information on which their imaginations could work.
There were, as we have seen, two CIA intelligence assessment track§. The “un-
witting” intelligence branch of the CIA painted an ambiguous picture, one
from which people might conclude the Bisscll group was too conservative.
Their reports’ conlents were ambiguous and conflicting —but that was the na-
ture of reality.* .

For example, onc agent on March 10, 1961, reported, “Many p?oplg in
Camaguey belicve that the Castro regime is tottering and that the situation
can at any moment degencrate into bloody anarchy. . . . The opposnlu?n
forces in the Escambray arc enjoying great popularily."'f‘ (Castro'’s own mis-
trust clearly extended to at least 200,000 people whom he arrested :fflcr. the
D-2 warning.) Yct on the same day, another written assessment maintained
“we see no signs that such developments portend any serious {hrcat to 1,1 re-
gime which by now has established a formidable structurc of conlrol'. el

The conclusion that White House officials made up a cover story, tried to
make it a reality, and then were carried along by their hopes, is strengthened
by the numbers Bisscll provided. Castro had 50,000 in his regular army and
perhaps 200,000 militia: total, 250,000.% The CIA had no more than 2,500
hard-core supporters in the military. That means, M. President, that 99%

of Cuba’s military forces are not expected to support us.%

Or take the 25% figure. That means, Mr. President, that 75% of the Cuban
people will not be favorably disposed to this libcraliop.

By the available evidence, then, Kennedy and his advisers made up the be-
lief in a mass uprising becausc they wanted to believe it. Too, tl?cy'felt Cgbans
would prefer the nationalistic, anti-Communist, and democratic liberal ideals
they stood for to Castro’s.

6. A guerrilla escape was available if the invasion fell apart. ‘

Kennedy rightly understood that the Trinidad plan included a gucrnll;'l-
escape option. (He did not know the Cubans were never trained to use this
guerrilla option; it was a CI1A “selling point,” not a seriously plannefi con-
tingency.)®’ But the scramble for alternative sites after he rejected Trinidad
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eliminated the guerrilla option: the three roads and impenetrable swamp
worked both ways and so it was impossible for 1,200 men to get out. In fact,
a moment's thought would have shown a beachhead lock-in was a corollary
of the site’s advantages. But no one did think about it —or at lcast mention
it.* If onc assumes good faith, then the explanation is that Bissell, shifting
from Trinidad to the Bay of Pigs, gave the president the better option he
wanted by the criteria Kennedy specified publicly: A lost guerrilla escape was
a minor change and so Bisscll did not explicitly mention it. Possibly, if the
“secure the beachhcad and wait” scenario stalled, he assumed the naval task
force in the area could be used. But he did not expect to fail, time was lim-
ited, and there were urgent and productive things to do rather than develop
contingency plans to scuttle an operation which, if the president approved,
and climinating Castro now werc a serious national objective, Kennedy would
want to succeed.

The skeptical interpretation is simply that the CIA wanted the plan to go
forward. The CIA never trained the men for guerrilla operations; thus, on
the CIA’s part, none of this talk was scrious. They told the president that the
Zapata swamp arca had once been used by guerrillas, the truth but not “the
whole truth” (the small pathways were unsuitable for more than a handful
of men and Castro had helicopters that could hunt down men trying to es-
cape). By such indircction they minimized the risk that a nervous president
would bolt at the last minute.

This sccond interpretation now appears correct. According to the Taylor
report, which [ will review in the next chapter, officials had been encouraged
to believe there was a viable guerrilla escape. 1f the president sensed, at some
deeper level, that his CIA planners wanted his commitment but might not
be centirely trustworthy in what they were telling him (and not telling him),
his instincts were accurate. However, it is worth noting, tor future reference,
that Kennedy was not entircly candid with the CIA cither. He placed great
value on the guerrilla option, as did many of his own, non-Eisenhower ap-
pointces in the room. By not being forthright about his primary concern to
be able readily to abandon their operation, the president was also stringing
along the CIA, keeping up their morale: They got “the truth but not the whole
truth” too.*

Also, there was a conflict between roles. Bissell was assigned to develop,
present, and defend the plan. He made the best case, subject to the public
instructions of the president. In such a situation, the president needed skep-
tical experts he did not provide for himself,

Even if the president had the staff to ask the questions that needed to be
asked, the task would have been difficult. Almost nothing was in writing (for
security rcasons). There were no bricfing books to rcad and ponder, no sys-
tematic checklists comparing invasion sites by all the criteria developed over
earlicr meetings.
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Officials the president might have relied upon, the Joint Chiefs of Staff.
failed him. They did not know what he expected of them. They had proposed
in writing, in January, that they be included in development of the military
plans. The memorandum was apparently lost during the change of adminis-
trations; they were excluded.” Now, asked to comment, their review was
limited to the logistics and training and to agreement that the initial landing
would likely be successful. They did warn that secrecy was almost impossi-
ble and estimated the probability Castro knew an invasion was coming to be
at least 85 percent.” Kennedy did not specifically order them to review guer-
rilla or other escape options, and they did not do it. (The written account of
the CIA plan they received at the last minute did not contain plans for a—
nonexistent — guerrilla option.) As the invasion did fall apart, Kennedy's mil-
itary adviser, General Lemnitzer (chairman of the Joint Chiefs), among
others, still believed the men could escape “into the hills.™'

The gap between the images used by decision makers and the geography
of the landing site illustrates a common source of difficulty in government
policy, the tendency of bright men, new to a problem, to deal in “big think™
abstractions, confidently, without their thought being grounded in a detailed
appreciation of the situations in which plans will be implemented. The presi-
dent “really didn't have a very good visual picture of the whole thing.”-
Kennedy probably relied on Bissell and Dulles to be responsible for details,
and the Joint Chicfs to review the plan with more-time and professional ex-
pertise than he could bring to second-guess them. Kennedy's ambivalence and
growing inncr doubts about the operation also probably kept him from in-
ternalizing all the details: he kept himself at a psychological distance. To his
planners, the dictum of “no American involvement” was more personal than
a public relations criterion: it was a metaphor of his own reservations.

7. Adlai Stevenson believed (and gave an overly vigorous defense for) the
cover story he delivered.

Yes, Mr. Ambassador, yes, I'm sorry, but it's true. There is nothing more
we can do. I'm afraid we've lost . . . No, we have nothing else to throw
into it . .. Well, P'm sorry you're distressed. We all are . . . Yes, I'm sorry
too that vou weren't better informed . . . Well, good evening, Governor.
' — Richard Bissell to
Adlai Stevenson™

Stevenson's unrealistic belief is casily explained. They lied to him, and he
did not expect he would be treated that way. Stevenson was misled, or explic-
itly lied to, three times. In carly spring he suspected something was afoot;
he camie to Washington in March to express his alarm to Kennedy. Kennedy
was evasive but assured him that whatever was being planned there would
be no question of American involvement.

On Saturday, April 8, Kenncdy sent two briefers (Tracy Barnes from the
CIA and Arthur Schlesinger, Jr., from the White House) to New York to tell

CGL-E
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Stevenson what would happen. Barnes did the briefing because Schlesinger
missed his shuttle flight from National Airport and arrived an hour late. That
he did so determined the character of what was said — and not said.

Barnes talked vaguely, in generalitics: something would happen, it would
“appear to be coming from the inside” of Cuba, there would be no Ameri-
can involvement, no one would eave from American soil. Essentially, Barnes
gave a “broad brush” cover story. When pressed, Barnes lied and assured
Stevenson there would be “nothing happening” while the General Assembly
was in session.™

Kennedy thought he had ordered more than this. His order in the Cabinet
Room was to brief Stevenson “fully.” Adlai’s credibility was a national assct
and nothing he should say in New York should be “less than the truth,” even
if “it could not be the whole truth.”™

That sounded good when Kennedy said it. But Barnes had to implement
what were, in fact, contradictory orders. How could Stevenson provide a cred-
ible cover story without lying? Barnes had the privilege of working for a boss
who wanted it both ways —and in Barnes’s understanding, Barnes had to give
it to him. ’

So Tracy Barnes mumbled. He gave the “broad brush,” he talked around
the point. Barnes gave Stevenson the model of what he could say sincerely
and be credible: keep it a big picture, give general impressions, dance around.
Just say there is no American involvement.

Why did Barnes lie to Stevenson about the invasion date? The likely reason
is that Stevenson did not have a “need to know.” (In national sccurity parl-
ance, this phrasc meant Stevenson could perform his assigned role whether
or not he knew the information.) Barnes may have made a mistake on the
spur of the moment. He might have said, “Adlai, the president has not decid-

“ed .. " but that would imply it might occur within a week. And that was
critical information no prudent CIA official would reveal, certainly not in
a United Nations embassy in New York, to an outsider and known critic, with-
out specific order. Barnes may have lied, too, because he knew Stevenson op-
posed the operation and, being politically sophisticated, recognized Steven-
son had not asked an idle question. It Barnes had said yes, it would happen
while the General Assembly was meeting, then Stevenson would have off icially
found his open door to ask for detail, and to fly to Washington and argue
against the operation, especially when he learned it was far more offensive
than the plan Barnes had described. By saying No, denying anything would
happen during the United Nations session, Barnes kept Stevenson neutral-
ized unless the president wanted him actively involved and invited him to
Washington, as the president would have done if he seriously wanted Steven-
son 1o be involved.™ Stevenson’s later anger came partly from specific lies
in this bricfing. But an implicit (and surely demeaning) message about his true
place in foreign policy decisions would not have escaped Stevenson’s notice:
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he was an outsider, kept at arm’s length in Nf:w York, and h}s “prelstder:ltxiille
briefing gave him less truth than he would just have read in Szulc’s a
. H - 77
" ’;‘t;::: ‘7‘:\::3 .lo know” bureaucratic code in national securily'aff airs als‘(')‘ ltii
to the third incident of lying. When Stevenson called Washington 3; le.:d
the defector story, the State Department called the CIA —and lhe’ . wlan
to the assistant secretary of state who placed the call. ln'lhe ClA’s V“f
assistant secretary of state had no right (“neec'l”) to know his part was a govelr-
up. A cover story was better if believed by n.s defender§: why unca:t!ous ly
open the door to complication or entrust national security only to t Cll'[i‘l‘c -
ing ability? If the assistant sccretary or SteYenson §hould have kno%n‘: ey
would have been briefed by their bureaucratic superior (Rusk) who did know.
That last assumption, however, was inaccurate. Rusk was new, at lez:_sl to
this post in this administration. He had no expectation the CIA WO(I;|(:‘ 'ledtg
senior presidential appointees in his charlment. When lhe C lA‘sal t fs
fector was genuine, Rusk also believed it. (He thought this defector was gen-
uine — he expected another defector might be the fakc:) N ‘
The lie also was transmitted because Dean Rusk, in addition to being
fooled, was in error about how the United Nations angle'was to be handlled.
Ordinarily, the secretary of state would haqdle the U.N. issucs. But Lhe [ e.arl
message to Rusk was that Stevenson was briefed and han(!lcd thro’ug sl?:cm
channels. Adlai Stevenson had been twice the Democratic Party’s prest cn.-
tial nomince. Since Kennedy had said publicly th;.u Sw\"cnson was to have
“cabinet rank” in this administration, it seemed.(hls c‘arller promise wa:( be-
ing activated and Adlai was not Rusk’s subordinate in the. operahuon. : f;‘:
nedy, bypassing Rusk, had arranged that Stevenson be briefed t hrlou.g )
CIA (Tracy Barnes) and his own White House staff (Anhur Sc esmgelr .
There was no White House coordination, and everyone inferred someone else
i : of it.™
wai:. ‘;'::‘g;;so. the CIA, and Kennedy's own advisers believed he would
j roops rather than accept failure.
“s;::::i's:n“lal,éc‘nncgy’s guidance was firm and consistent: t'here would be no
direct American military involvement in this Cuban oPcrallnon. Tobe cer‘tan‘n
the Cubans understood it, he sent three personal emissarics, Arthur Scblc-
singer, Jr., A. A. Berle, and Harvard Professor John Pla{\k. to New ’York to
see Dr. Miro Cardona. Returning to Washington, Sch_lcsmgcr lgld I\_cnnedy
he thought Miro was shaken by their message and did not. believe 13 Ken-
nedy called Bissell immediately to say that Miro must understand —and agree
—or the invasion was off. Bissell sent Tracy Barnes to Ncw.York the same
day. Barnes returned to report he had “formal as§el'n." from Miro —but Barnes
added that he doubted Miro believed the prohibition.”™ .
Taking considerable pains to be certain his message was recelv?d. the pr.e‘s‘-
ident acted with integrity to assure that the Cubans acted voluntarily and with-
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out false hopes. In retrospect, integrity served him well: when the invasion
did fail he was able to retain the public support of the leaders, despite private
bitterness. But Kennedy was doing more. He wanted the Cubans to pass a
test: did they really want to do this (and accept the risks) on their own, for
their own ideals?*

But the test did not work. No one belicved Kennedy. The ClA and Ken-
nedy's own advisers did not think he meant it. Miro did not believe him. The
Cuban troops did not believe it. ‘

The commonly accepted reason is that these men were too sophisticated.
They relicd upon past experience: Presidents and other politicians often speak
for effect; later, as circumstances change, their pragmatic actions may dif-
fer from their carlier, verbal positions. They thought Kennedy talked tough
so the invasion planners and the Cubans would get their acts together and
accomplish the mission alone. But if American power and prestige were once
committed, and Amcrican plancs or troops were really needed to complete
the job, then, they believed, he would act differently.

Of course this theory was also untestable. If you asked the president
whether he had just told you the truth or was trying to manipulate you, he
would have become angry and repeated himself. He would do that whether
it was really the truth or something he merely wanted you to believe.

But senior CIA officials did not merely imagine, without plausible corrob-
orating evidence, that Kennedy might use American forces. He accepted the
U.S. naval escort task force they proposed: a task force which included seven
destroyers, an aircraft carrier with jets, and an augmented marine assault bat-
talion. In addition to this official task force, Kennedy was also aware another
carrier, the USS Bover, was stationed nearby: it was newly equipped to usc
“vertical cnvelopment” helicopter tactics. Not a great deal was made of the
formidable size of the task force at the time, but men of the sophistication
of Bisscll and Dulles knew they provided the president with future options
should he wish to use them. It was a reasonable assumption that Kennedy
would have kept all American ships away from the island if he did not want
those resources nearby. ‘

Again, however, the theory was untestable. Sophisticated men, who under-
stood the difference between current verbal statements and future policy con-
tingencics, would recognize, almost subliminally, what was happening. It
would be poorly serving the president to ask, directly and publicly, whether
he wanted contingency resources. But for the president to say nothing altowed
the interpretation that he had a deeper, ultimate commitment to success, that

there were some scenarios where he might not rule out a later use for this
Amcrican force. In rcading and honoring the subtleties of what men of sophis-
tication leave unsaid, Dulles and Bisscll apparently misread Kennedy’s sim-
ple, and persistent, lack of atiention to details and his desire not to be “drawn
in.” Ostensibly, the ships were “escort,” and Kennedy only said they should
stay in international waters."
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1t is also truc that the American “poninvolvement™ formylation .cou]d casily
appear, to the CIA, not atrue limit. It was a pubhc rcluuons.gundclfnc. Th.c
moncy, the guns, the planes, the training, the ideas — everything was .ﬁmen-
can except the men who would do the fighting. The plan catled for formal
recognition of the liberation government seventy-two hours after (hg t'Jcach-
head was established and they were flown in. After lhal.lh'c plan anticipated
open involvement: They would drop the fig leaf and logistical and other sup-

. port could pour in.*

The message did not reach the Cuban soldicrs in Guatemala for quilg a dif-
ferent reason. CIA operatives lied, and they sent t‘o Kgnchy aq amblgt{ous
report at the last minutc which falscly confirmed his belict that his conditions
were understood and accepted. o

The CIA men in Guatemala were caught in a bind by conflicting orders.-
They knew that to inform the Cubans of possible abandonment would destroy
morale: the canopy of American power emboldened them. There have been
later disputes about what the Cuban soldiers were told. 1t may be that no o‘nc
ever explicitly lied to them. But it is well documented that the ClA producc‘d
atmospherics that were not the whole truth, a plcthgru of locker-room pL'p
talk they knew people who were trusting, young, and innocent a‘bout lhc ways
of the world would readily take as concrete commitments. “Wc re behind ypu
all the way,” was a typical assurancc; “There will be a caryler offsh:;:c w:'th
blond-haired, blue-cyed Cuban pilots who don’t speak Spanish s " “You're
not alone. Others will be involved, t0o.” “Pepe, when you hn the beache§.
just kecp walking, turn left, and you'll be in Hayana," was said by. an Ameri-
can commander to Pepe San Roman, and coming from an Am’cncan he ad-
mired, he thought it mecant Amcrica would be Ehere to make it happen. l‘n
fact, most of the soldicrs were under the impres§|on they were part of a r::m_uh
larger invasion force, and many thought Amencap troops would be fig u'n_g
at other locations. But (security, of course) they did not ask t‘(‘) know det{x||5.

It is absolutely clear that no one told the unvarnished truth': If you get m(q
trouble on the beaches, you'rc on your own. We're washing our hands og
you.” e ther

There may havc been another motive for the bravura assurances, they
would have been a sophisticated countcrinlclligepce strategy. So cxp?nenccc?
an intelligence operative as Allen Dulles would likely assume Casl'ro S a.g.cng
would effect at least low-level penctration of such a large opcration, \Mdcl:\.
known in Miami and Guatemala. As ultimate success depended on Cas¥ro s
erroneous belief the invasion was not a Guatcma!a-snzed token bl.‘ll many times
larger than 1,200-1,400 men, and that the Um_led States was mvolve'd ané
committed to its success, it is reasonable to conjecture that some of this talk
was i ional.

a;&:‘tlzz:::edy understood his message had gotten through to the C ubzfnsz.

Especially he was misled by the enthusiastic report of Col. Jack Hawkins,
the CIA’s ex-marine military commander, who traveled to Guatemala for a
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last-minute inspection. Hawkins cabled that iilitary readiness was high and
the Brigade officers “enthusiastic . . . intelligent and motivated with a fanati-
cal urge to begin battle. . .. The brigade officers do not expect help from
the US armed forces.”™

Robert Kennedy later said this cable from Hawkins, more than any other
factor, finally persuaded the president to go ahead.* Bureaucratically astuie,
well-timed, and well-phrased, it appeared to say exactly what this president
wanted to hear: the picture of men with a “fanatical urge to begin,” without
any American military help, confirmed the United States to be truly in the
support role he desired. (And it confirmed to Kennedy that he had acted with
integrity, could pull out, and the operation “go guerrilla” without any breach
of promisc. He was covered.) Yet Hawkins was nof confirming what Ken-
nedy thought he said. Kennedy’s stipulation was absolute: no aid, even if this
caused the operation to fail. Hawkins meant there was no expectation of
American military involvement if things went according to plan.

In a sense, Kennedy abandoned the Cubans in good faith. But the conse-
quences, the bitterness of betrayal and disillusion, have been paid for over
twenty years by most of the Cubans who served and survived.* The orches-
trated misunderstandings were consequential: had the Cubans decided to go
ahead, and believed Kennedy's limits, they would have been less passive and
would have worricd about, and independently reviewed, their contingency
plans. Kennedy might then have effected a timely naval rescue to prevent the
costly appearance of dramatic defeat and long months of negotiations to ran-
som the prisoners. After the Joint Chiefs signed off on the CIA plan, Marine
Commandant David Shoup lay awake at night worrying about the wellare
of 1,200 men put ashore to face 20,000 with no escape route. Kennedy might
have worried, too, if he realized how much they depended on him. OQver the
two and a half years he still had to live, his conscience might have been clearer.

9. Kennedy and his advisers did not adequately consider what would hap-
pen after the beachhead was secure.

The Bay of Pigs was not a mad scheme. It was bold, perhaps unlikely. Bin
it had a rationale and was based on an established track record. If the presi-
dent desired —and vital American national interest required — a low-cast way
to overthrow Castro now, without having to use large numbers of American
troops in hard-fought battles at a later time, the CIA's invasion plan, coupled
with its assassination plan, was—in main outlinc — probably the best that
could have been intelligently devised. Could it have worked?

The answer, | think, is that it could not have worked the way Kennedy
hoped. There was not a realistic chance of secrecy for the American spon-
sorship. Not ninety miles from Florida, with the hottest news story of the year
about to break and a public controversy to spur the competitive instincts of
reporters. Seule had been tuckier, the New York Times bolder than other
papers. But New Republic, U.S. News & World Report, and the Miami news-
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papers, among others, already knew the basic facts and were persuaded to
delay publishing only by conditional arguments of the need to preserve se-
crecy before the invasion was launched. And there were cnou'gh knowledge-
able people whose convictions were opposcd to the operation and whose
standing with personal constituencies was at stake — Bowles, Stgvcnsor}. Ful-
bright, Reston —to be sure the story got out and the presjdcm felt their out-
rage at the abuse he had done to their ideals for America. . ‘

The meetings with the president were filled with the pragmatic, easier, lcss
contentious, and activist questions, “Could it work?” “How do we make u.
work?” Few people asked Senator Fulbright’s question, “Should it be done?’
Part of the answer to this question of “should” involves personal val_ucs and
different conceptions of Latin American political development and m.terna-_
tional relations. But part of the answer to “should” rests on an appraisal of
the probable scenarios to be encountered, not merely the desire that the opera-
tion succeed and Castro disappear. .

The CIA's predicted scenario, Cuba equals Guatemala, was unhkely.. Had
there been one massive and fully successful air strike (no prior warning to
trigger police roundups), and the B-26s been moved to t.hc bcachhpad strip.
the beaches probably could have been held indefinitely, given Am'encan logis-
tical support and continuing shelling and bombing along the built-up cat’xsc-
ways of the three access roads. It might have stuck there. What would Ken-
nedy have donc then, without a guerrilla escape? o

Since Castro expected the Guatemala model, and assuming assasgnauon
plans failed, it is unlikely he would have surrendered. At best, even if others
tried for a negotiated settlement to stop the B-26 bombing ralds:, he would
likely have moved to the mountains to continue the type of guerrilla warfare
he had practiced against Batista. (There is indirect evidence he i.\ad such con-
tingency plans.)” Even if 10% of his military and armed ml‘lma were.loyal..
he would have 25,000 men with him, and aid from a significant portion of
that 75% of the population the CIA thought would not support lhei.r “libera-
tion,” and at lcast some of whom decply rescnted America's past interven-
tions.® It could have been Vietnam five years early.

There would not have been a quick or antiseptic victory. Kennedy's cx.pched
mass uprising could have produced civil war. Castro would havc' pccn fighting
for survival, as would his military commanders and jocal political leaders,
who could not have expected to retain power. Castro had a mililia.of 'about
200,000, well armed:* unlike Arbenz, Castro had already widely distributed
arms to the populace, and both the CIA and Joint Chicfs knew it: Hundreds
or thousands of deaths, mounting day by day, were not implausible. By the
CIA’s best scenario it would have gone for a week, probably several weeks.
And journalists could have hired boats from Florida to cover th.e war and
shown the increasing carnage to the world, and to Americans, on dinner-hour
television. Yet Kennedy did not stop to imagine —or apparcntly ask for esti-
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mates —during all of the sophisticated discussions, how many thousands might
dic, on both sides, if he said Yes.

But, deferring any plan for an end game to sce, first, what developed, he
likely would have faced serious consequences, the details of which he had not
begun to imagine. His liberal constituents would surely have turned querulous.
Even if he had won, the price of success would have been a specter of blood
haunting his administration for the rest of its days. :

In retrospect, then, one might say: Kennedy did not make a mistake after
all. It turned out for the best. He could not have cancelled, he was trapped
by the disposal problem. It would have been disastrous to press forward mil-
itarily from the beachhead. The best solution was the simple guerrilla “disap-

- pearance” of the Cubans Kennedy counted on. Without it, scuttling the opera-
tion on the beaches was the best thing he ¢ould have done.

Perhaps a revisionist historian, with new evidence, will someday argue that
Kennedy shrewdly planned it this way. [ think not, although he likely ex-
pected, when he said “go ahead,” to use his guerrilla escape quickly and write
off the operation unless a dramatic public uprising quickly followed. The best
evidence against manipulative scheming is that Kennedy, had he thought
through his options, probably could have gotten out, albeit with a short-term
cost, more easily than it seemed.

The key was the Cuban politicians. Eisenhower’s endorsement had always
depended on the CIA’s production of a credible government. “Boys,™ he said
to Dulles and Bisscll, “if you don't intend to go through with this, let’s stop
talking about it." But until mid-March there was no liberation goverament.
The exiled soldiers were mistrustful and suspicious of the politicians (the sol-
diers were there for ideils, and the usual varicty of other motives that take
people to war, but not from loyalty to the politicians who would return to
power). Kennedy might have cancelled the operation and, if necessary, blamed
the failurc of the Cuban politicians to unite while an operation might still be
conducted. He might have ordered background bricfings to convey the mes-
sage that the operation could not have succeeded without Hungarian-style
carnage. That overt American invasion to change the balance of power pre-
cipitously in isolated Cuba could produce the danger of a tit-for-tat Soviet
responsc in the growing Berlin crisis was a consideration responsible leaders
of Torcign policy opinion —in these years, a European-oriented New York net-
work —would likely have accepted.

It would not have been an clegant solution. But if Kennedy wanted out,
it had the sustaining virtue of being based on the truth. Yet the enduring reali-
ty, amidst all the questions that were not asked and his own ambivalences,
was that Kennedy did not want to get out: he wanted to succeed, if possible
at acceptable risk and certainly to try if the political cost of a failure could
be minimal. ’
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- Their belief that such rhetoric had been crucial in the presidential election likely

encouraged this enthusiasm.

- This is important to emphasize. There were about 5,000 active guerrillas and a

badly performing economy. No one could be sure what might develop: Wyden,
Bay of Pigs excoriates the CIA for “watfling” and, | believe, misses the point that
a decided judgment probably was impossible. “How .” as Richard Bissell ashed,
“could you possibly tel?”

Wyden, Buy of Pigs, p. 99.

1bid. .

The question, however, was primarily of will: whether these forces would surrender

readily, especially if the United States was pereeived to be the sponsor of the in-

vasion.

1T one takes the highest number mentioned, about 25,000 active supporters, and
even il one assumed them all to be within the military forces, 90% of the military
would not be active supporters.

Such training ended in November; although it is not clear how crucial specific guer-
rilla training might have been, there would be major tactical and logistical impli-
cations requiring pre-planning to effect an escape. Intense tactical air support,
for example, might have opened the eastern road, and additional s chicles would
have made escape to the mountains possible quickly.

Reportedly there were small footpaths, but the men were not cquipped with maps
and the route was unusable by large numbers of men, especially if they were hunted
by the 20,000 Castro troops the CIA also estimated would he deployed along the
three roads.

In sexual imagery: if he could cut his losses and abandon the operation at any
time via a guerrilla escape, Kennedy had the CIA “by the balls,” and the CIA may
not have liked that idea.

Taylor, Operation ZAPATA, p. 8.

Ibid., p. 10.

Wyden, Bay of Pigs, p. 271.

Telephone conversation reported in J. Smith, Portrait of a Cold Warrior: Second
Thoughts of a Top CI-A Agent (New York: Ballantine, 1981), p. 340.

Wyden, Bay of Pigs, pp. 155-158 details the Stevenson bricfing story.

Wyden, Bay of Pigs, p. 156.

Likely this was a crucial signal 10 Barnes that Stevenson was 1o be briefed as a
bit player, not as a decision maker.

Ao, he had genuine reason to be concerned. as the General Assembly was sched-
uled 1o debate Cuban charges on what turned out to be D-Day. The New York
Times stories were making it increasingly difficult for him to mount a credible
defense in the forthcoming debate.

1t may also have seemed impolitic to Rusk to assert his tormal authority to sup-
plant the: White House channel he knew the president had ordered.

He said so in the Cabinet Room, many times. After the major meeting on April
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4 he met privately with Rusk, Dulles, and McNamara 10 stress thas ruling: it was
tikely from this meeting that the detailed rules of engagement issued to the naval
task force also originated. After Miro’s “formal” asscm.vlhc matter ap;‘)arieml,\
rested there, with nothing tfurther done. Wyden, Bay of Pigs, pp. 166-163; Schle-
singer, A Thousand Days, p. 265. _ ‘ -

80. Kennedy may also have been probing to see if he could scuttle the mission by mak-
ing such a hard line demand. o .

81. They also provided the communication to Was:hmg(on.. ' o

82. To the CIA, if noninvoliement were (00 convincing, (hevlm'asnon was lost: If Ken-
nedy grasped the logic of their plan, he had to recognize that 1,200 men could
never defeat 250,000 unless, along with the other aspects of (hc psychological war-
fare, Castro and the Cubans belicved absolutely that the United States was spon-

ring this and would not let it fail. '

83. fl?he's‘eg conversations arc discussed in H. Johnson, The Bay of f’igs: The Leqders
Story of Brigade 1506 (New York: Norton, 1964), p. 68.'et passim, and by W _\~d.en.
Bay of Pigs, pp. 190-193 ¢t passim. Later, the American in cha.rge of training
was also asked by the Taylor Commission why the men hnd.rcccnvcd no t.urther
training in guerrilla warfare, since this was the fallback contingency. He' telt the
men would have mutinied as they belicved a l'rom:'nl assn}nh was essential.

84. One suspects Dulles’s “tradecraft” in the timely arrival of a cable that cupld be
distributed to the White House. Hawkins was scheduled to fly back to Washmgmn
and would normally have dictated a report there. See Wyden, Bay of Pigs. p. 169.

gtsi !rt;:gbubans have also been further used, rather cynica!l)(. for mere har.a.ss'.mcms
never seriously designed tor the liberation they were willing to risk their lives to

achieve. 108 179
87. Wyden, Bay of Pigs, pp. 103-108, . ) o
88. American policymakers scemed obsessed by the belief that such past experiences

made no difference and America would be welcomgd as a bene(ac(or. When

American policymakers speak of “foreign” interference in Latin America they mean

“not United States’.” ) o
89. In Guatemala the military was centralized and arms not widely distributed among

the populace. .

90. Quoted in Wyden, Bay of Pigs, p. 31.



